
NOTES
ANTITRUST LAW-BANKS-LEGAL BARRIERS TO

MARKET ENTRY MEAN NO ELIMINATION OF
POTENTIAL COMPETITION

In United States v. Marine Bancorporation, Inc.,' the United States
Supreme Court held that due to the legal barriers in the banking "line of
commerce" which eliminated any alternative means of market entry, there
could be no procompetitive influence on the market and thus no elimina-
tion of potential competition. The United States brought a civil antitrust
action in the United States Court for the Western District of Washington
under section 7 of the Clayton Act to challenge a merger between the
National Bank of Commerce, the second largest bank in the state of
Washington, and the Washington Trust Bank, the ninth largest bank in
the state. After the district court dismissed the complaint, the Government
appealed directly to the Supreme Court of the United States.2

The United States based its case exclusively on the potential competi-
tion doctrine 3 under section 7 of the Clayton Act, 4 contending that a denial
of the merger would cause the acquiring bank to enter the Spokane market
by either a de novol or "foothold"' means. The acquired bank would be left
to continue to develop into an actual competitor of the acquiring bank. The
Government further submitted that the merger would terminate the pro-
competitive effect that the acquiring bank asserts over the Spokane mar-
ket due to the potential of its entry into the market.

1. 418 U.S. 602 (1974).
2. 414 U.S. 907 (1973).
3. If a buyer has the potential opportunity of turning to suppliers not yet in existence,

that potential competition restrains the seller from raising his prices. However, the strength
of potential competition depends upon the cost of overcoming the barriers to entry in the
market. A merger with a business already in the market by an enterprise with the capacity
to enter the market on its own would have the effect of eliminating the procompetitive effect
that the potential enterprise has on the market. See P. ApxxnA, ANTITRUST ANALvsis 517
(1967).

4. 15 U.S.C. §18 (1970) provides in pertinent part:
No corporation engaged in commerce shall acquire, directly or indirectly, the whole
or any part of the stock or other share capital and no corporation subject to the
jurisdiction of the Federal Trade Commission shall acquire the whole or any part
of the assets of another corporation engaged also in commerce, where in any line of
commerce in any section of the country, the effect of such acquisition may be
substantially to lessen competition, or to tend to create a monopoly.

5. A de novo entry is an entry by an enterprise into a market without the acquisition of
an enterprise already in the target market. See ANTrrRusT ADvisER §4.27 (C. Hill ed. Supp.
1974).

6. A "foothold" or "toehold" entry is the acquisition of a smaller firm already in the
market by a larger firm not in the market. See ANTITRUST ADvisER §4.53 (C. Hill ed. 1971).
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Section 7 of the Clayton Act, substantially amended in 1950 to its pres-
ent form,' prohibits a corporation from acquiring another's stock or assets
where "the effect of such acquisition may be substantially to lessen compe-
tition. . . . ,,8 Prior to the 1950 amendment, the Act had been held merely
to affect the activities of corporations acquiring the stock of other
corporations where the result of such an acquisition was a restraint of
commerce or the tendency to create a monopoly in any line of commerce.
The courts interpreted the requirement of a substantial lessening of com-
petition to mean only the possibility of, and not necessarily an actual,
lessening of competition. The doctrine of potential lessening of competition
was developed from this concept. Under the potential competition doc-
trine, all that need be shown is that a business exists at the market's
edge-"standing in the wings"-and that if the business is allowed to enter
the market by merger, the procompetitive effect it has on the market will
be eliminated.

An early case which interpreted section 7 of the Act as amended was
United States v. E.L du Pont de Nemours & Co.' There the Court noted
the intent of Congress to "arrest in its incipiency"'" a substantial lessening
of commerce." Four years later, in Brown Shoe Co. v. United States,'2 the
Court observed that in order to violate the Clayton Act, a merger must be
shown to have an effect which "'may be substantially to lessen competi-
tion, or to tend to create a monopoly' 'in any line of commerce in any
section of the country.' "'s The Court thus established that there are two
factors to be considered in determining whether there is substantially less-
ened competition: the product market and the relevant geographic market.
Defining the product market, the Court stated: "[tihe outer boundaries
of a product market are determined by the reasonable interchangeability
of use or the cross-elasticity of demand between the product itself and
substitutes for it."" Once the product market is discerned, then the geo-
graphic market is located; this is the geographic location of the product
market. The Court recognized that "although the geographic market in
some instances may encompass the entire nation, under other circumstan-
ces it may be as small as a single metropolitan area. '"

In establishing the criteria for deciding which mergers would be contrary
to the Clayton Act, the Court examined Congress' purpose for establishing
the Act. It found that Congress was attempting to preserve competition at

7. Celler-Kefauver Act §7, 38 Stat. 731 (1950), 15 U.S.C. §18 (1970).
8. 15 U.S.C. §18 (1970).
9. 353 U.S. 586 (1957).
10. Id. at 589.
11. Id. at 593.
12. 370 U.S. 294 (1962).
13. Id. at 324.
14. Id. at 325.
15. Id. at 337.
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a vigorous level and was also attempting to prevent a consolidation of an
industry by a large firm's acquisition of several small firms. The Court
stated that "Congress was desirous of preventing the formation of further
oligopolies with their attendant adverse effects upon local control of indus-
try and upon small business."'" Under the position adopted by the Court,
any merger which is found to substantially lessen competition will be held
contrary to the intent of the Clayton Act and will not be permitted.

The Court's decision in United States v. Philadelphia National Bank"
considered the proposed merger between Philadelphia National Bank and
Girard Trust Corn Exchange to be a substantial lessening of competition
and applied section 7 of the Clayton Act to banks for the first time.' The
Court followed the line of reasoning set out in Brown Shoe and concluded
that the cluster of products that a bank offers comprises a distinct line of.
commerce, commercial banking, and this constitutes the relevant product
market. In establishing the geographic market, the Court declared that

[tihe proper question to be asked [is] . . . where, within the area of
competitive overlap, [will] the effect of the merger on competition ...
be direct and immediate[?] This depends upon the 'geographic structure
of supplier-customer relations."'

The Court then recognized that there were three levels of competition
involved, national, sectional, and local, but that the relevant geographic
market, or "section of the country," was the four-county, metropolitan
Philadelphia area. This was determined by the fact that while some of the
business came from outside that area, the bank maintained its offices in
that area and most of the customers of the bank were located there. As
Brown Shoe prescribed, once the product market and geographic market
were designated, the Court could then ascertain whether the effect of the
merger was to substantially lessen competition. The Court concluded that

a merger which produces a firm controlling an undue percentage share of
the relevant market, and results in a significant increase in the concentra-
tion of firms in that market is so inherently likely to lessen competition
substantially that it must be enjoined in the absence of evidence clearly
showing that the merger is not likely to have such anticompetitive ef-
fects.2

There had been a previous history of mergers in Philadelphia and both of

16. Id. at 333.
17. 374 U.S. 321 (1963).
18. Philadelphia Nat'l Bank and Girard Trust Corn Exchange was respectively the

second and third largest banks in the Philadelphia metropolitan area. The sizes of the banks
were due to past mergers, and the proposed merger would have resulted in the creation of
the largest bank in the area.

19. 374 U.S. at 357.
20. Id. at 363.
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the banks had obtained their respective sizes through merger. The Court
found that the evidence established that there would be a substantial
lessening of competition and that since "[a] fundamental purpose of
amending section 7 was to arrest the trend toward concentration . . .
that purpose would be ill served if the law stayed its hands until 10, or 20,
or 30 more Philadelphia banks were absorbed,"'" and the merger was pre-
vented accordingly.

Following Philadelphia National Bank, the doctrine of Brown Shoe was
developed further in United States v. Penn-Olin Chemical Co." There the
Court re-examined section 7 of the Clayton Act in light of Brown Shoe and
found that Congress had used the words "'may be substantially to lessen
competition';" this wording denoted an intent to gauge on a broad scale
the validity of such arrangements, here a joint venture, by two large corpo-
rations. This case established that an actual lessening of competition was
not necessary; there needed to be only the potential for lessening of compe-
tition. The potential required was only a probabiltiy of the lessening of
competition and not an absolute certainty of the event occurring., The
Court, in deciding Penn-Olin, referred to United States v. El Paso Natural
Gas Co. 2 which held that

the "effect on competition . . . is determined by the nature or extent of
that market and by the nearness of the absorbed company to it, that
company's eagerness to enter that market, its resourcefulness, and so on."
The position of a company "as a competitive factor. . . was not disproved
by the fact that it had never sold . . . there . . . . [1]t is irrelevant in a
market . . . where incremental needs are booming." The existence of an
aggressive, well equipped and well financed corporation engaged in the
same or related lines of commerce waiting anxiously to enter an oligopolis-
tic market would be a substantial incentive to competition which cannot
be underestimated.2

The Court went on to suggest that a prima facie case may be made on an
objective rather than a subjective evaluation of the company's venture as
it relates to the factors set out in El Paso.26 The Court felt that "to require
more would be to read the statutory requirement of reasonable probability
into a requirement of certainty. '2 7 The Court then set out criteria for
assessing the probability of a substantial lessening of competition. 2 The

21. Id. at 367.
22. 378 U.S. 158 (1964).
23. Id. at 171.
24. 376 U.S. 651 (1964).
25. 378 U.S. at 174, quoting 376 U.S. at 660.
26. In FTC v. Proctor & Gamble Co., 386 U.S. 568 (1967), the Court again relied on

objective evidence to reach its conclusion.
27. 378 U.S. at 175.
28. These criteria include: (1)number and power of competitors in the relevant market;

(2) background of their growth; (3) power of the joint venturers; (4) relationship of their lines
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Court did not suggest that these criteria are to serve as a concrete test, but
rather only as some of many factors which might be taken into account in
determining the probability of a substantial lessening of competition.

The Court continued with its examination of what the Government must
show to establish "a reasonable geographic market" in United States v.
Pabst Brewing Co.9 Pabst's merger with Blatz Brewing Company was
determined to have an anticompetitive effect, even though the merged
company controlled only 23.95% of the Wisconsin beer market and 4.49%
of the market for the entire country. The Court did not indicate which of
these percentages was relevant, but found there had been a decline in the
number of small breweries and that "[ilf not stopped, [the] decline in
the number of separate competitors . . . [was] bound to lead to greater
and greater concentration of the beer industry . . . . "I The Court con-
cluded that the evidence of some concentration taking place was sufficient
to establish the Government's case and "that a trend toward concentration
in an industry . . . [was] a highly relevant factor in deciding how sub-
stantial the anticompetitive effect of a merger may be."' 3'

In United States v. Falstaff Brewing Corp. ,3 Falstaff attempted to
merge with another brewery. The Court decided that even though the
company professed that it would not enter the market by other means,
"'[t]he existence of an aggressive, well equipped and well financed corpo-
ration engaged in the same or related lines of commerce waiting anxiously
to enter an oligopolistic market would be a substantial incentive to compe-
tition which cannot be underestimated.' ",33 The Court found that given the
brewery's "financial capabilities and conditions. . . it would be reasonable
to consider it a potential entrant into that market. ' 3 To allow the com-
pany to acquire another brewery would mean the elimination of a potential
competitor asserting influence on the market, and as such, the elimination
of this influence on the market was a violation of section 7 of the Clayton
Act.

United States v. First National Bancorporation35 considered the question

of commerce; (5) competition between themselves; (6) setting of the joint ventures; (7) reason
and necessity of its existence; (8) the joint venturer's line of commerce and the relationship
thereof to that of the parties; (9) the adaptability of its line of commerce to non-competitive
practices; (10) the potential power of the joint venture in the relevant, market; (11) an ap-
praisal of what the competition in the relevant market would have been if one of the joint
venturers had entered it alone instead of through Penn-Olin; (12) the effect, in the event of
this occurrence, of the other joint venturer's potential competition and such other factors as
might indicate potential risk to competition in the relevant market. Id. at 177.

29. 384 U.S. 546 (1966).
30. Id. at 551.
31. Id. at 552-53.
32. 410 U.S. 526 (1973).
33. Id. at 532, quoting 378 U.S. at 174.
34. 410 U.S. at 533.
35. 329 F. Supp. 1003 (D. Colo. 1971), aff'd, 410 U.S. 577 (1973).
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of an acquisition of a bank by a bank holding company. The Government
contended that to allow such a merger would affect potential competition
due to the potential of the "to be acquired" bank to compete with the
holding company. The Government also contended that such an acquisi-
tion would concentrate to an even greater extent a market that already had
two bank holding companies present." The Court decided that the
Government had failed to establish that the entrants would select another
method of entry if the acquisition was denied or that there was another
mode of entry available. This failure eliminated the possibility of the en-
trants standing in the wings and thus eliminated the Government's argu-
ment of elimination of potential competition.

In Marine Bancorporation, the Court found that if such a merger were
permitted, it would be the first time National Bank of Commerce had done
business in the Spokane market. The bank sought to be acquired, the
Washington Trust Bank, was the third largest bank in the Spokane area.
It controlled 18.6% of the total deposits; the next two largest banks con-
trolled respectively 42.1% and 31.6% of the total deposits. The number of
banks in the Spokane area remained the same as before the merger. The
Court made a determination of the relevant product and the relevant
geographic market in order to determine if there was a violation of section
7 of the Clayton Act. The relevant product was found to be commercial
banking as established in Philadelphia National Bank. The Government
contended that while the Spokane area was the relevant geographic mar-
ket, the entire state should be considered as an appropriate "section of the
country." The Court stated that the relevant geographic market and the
"section of the country" have always been treated as identical," and the
Government's underlying concern of state wide oligopolistic banking mar-
kets was not demonstrated by the record as establishing "[a] 'reasonable
likelihood' of a substantial lessening of competition in a relevant
market. '38 The Government contention that the state should be considered
as a relevant geographic market was found to be almost an "ephemeral
possibility" and thus was not substantiated enough to be considered a
reasonable probability.

In considering the implications of the potential competition doctrine as
applied in Marine Bancorporation, the Court restated the factors outlined
in Falstaff' and observed that the "Court has interpreted section 7 as

36. For other cases decided on this basis, see United States v. Connecticut Nat'l Bank,
418 U.S. 656 (1974); United States v. United Virginia Bankshares, Inc., 347 F. Supp. 891
(E.D. Va. 1972); United States v. Idaho First Nat'l Bank, 315 F. Supp. 261 (D. Idaho 1970);
United States v. First Nat'l Bank of Maryland, 310 F. Supp. 157 (D. Md. 1970).

37. 418 U.S. at 619.
38. Id. at 622.
39. In Falstaff the Court recognized that a market extension may be unlawful if the target

market is substantially concentrated, if the acquiring firm has the characteristics, capabili-
ties, and economic incentive to render it a perceived potential de novo entrant, and if the
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encompassing what is commonly known as the 'wings effect.' "40 In order
for the potential competition doctrine to apply, Marine Bancorporation
had to be found to be standing in the wings. The Court found that
Philadelphia National Bank established the application of section 7 to
banks, and while in the past cases there had been actual competition
between the merging banks, "a geographic market extension [merger] by
commercial banks must pass muster under the potential-competition
doctrine [taking] into account the unique federal and state regulatory
restraints on entry .... '"' The Court observed that the legal restraints
dealt directly with the ease of market entry necessary to establish a poten-
tial competition situation. Due to these state regulations, the likelihood of
a de novo entry was thought to be almost eliminated, thus causing the only
feasible means for expansion to be merger. Concluding that the Govern-
ment had established a prima facie case of elimination of potential compe-
tition with the evidence of concentrated ratios of the banks in the area, the
Court stated that

the same factor that usually renders such markets concentrated and theo-
retical prospects for potential-competition § 7 cases-regulatory barriers
to new entry-will also make it difficult to establish that the doctrine
invalidates a particular geographic market extension merger.2

The Court then examined the merger to determine whether a merger which
left competition in the relevant market in the same position after the
merger as before was a violation of section 7 on the grounds that the
merging company could have entered the market by alternative means,
either de novo foothold."3 The Government contended that requiring Na-
tional Bank of Commerce to enter the market by these two methods would
cause a deconcentration of the Spokane market. The Court found that two
prerequisites must exist before a violation of section 7 was established: (i)
that in fact National Bank of Commerce had available means for entering
the Spokane market other than the acquisition of Washington Trust Bank;
(ii) that those means offered a substantial likelihood of ultimately produc-
ing deconcentration of that market or other significant procompetitive
effects.4 The Court then concluded that state law prevented National
Bank of Commerce from establishing a de novo branch in Spokane. After
examining other alternatives of market entry-sponsorship and foothold
acquisition of a smaller bank-the Court decided that no feasible alterna-
tive method existed for entry into the target market; that even if alterna-

acquiring firm's pre-merger presence on the fringe of the target market in fact tempered
oligopolistic behavior on the part of existing participants in the market. Id. at 624-25.

40. Id. at 625.
41. Id. at 627.
42. Id. at 632.
43. Id. at 623-25.
44. Id. at 633.
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tive means were available there would be no "reasonable prospect of long-
term structural improvements ... in the target market."4 The fact that
no alternative means of entry existed excluded the possibility of any mean-
ingful procompetitive effect from National Bank of Commerce's standing
in the wings.

The Court dismissed as speculative the Government's argument that the
merger would prevent Washington Trust Bank from competing with Na-
tional Bank of Commerce. The Court concluded that, taking into account
the stringent federal and state regulations involved', and in the absence of
entrenchment, these regulations eliminated the relative freedom of entry
into the market necessary under the doctrine of potential competition. The
factors determining the stringency of regulations are

the size and growth prospects of the target market, the size and number
of banking organizations participating in it, and past practices of regula-
tory agencies in granting charters.41

The Court noted that the testimony of regulatory officals should also be
taken into consideration. If no stringent regulations existed, then the case
should be determined by the factors relevant to any potential competition
case.

The Spokane area was found to be a candidate for the potential competi-
tion doctrine because of the concentrated condition of its market area.
According to Falstaff, Pabst, and their predecessors, once this factor is
shown, it is sufficient to shift the burden of proof to the defendant, requir-
ing it to show that a merger will not have such anticompetitive effect.
Marine Bancorporation would now create an exception to this rule by
requiring that where legal barriers to entry exist which prevent alternative
means of entry into the market, the Government must prove more than a
traditional case by showing that these legal barriers can be overcome by
the defendant.

While legal barriers have not been considered in the past in potential
competition cases, economic barriers to entry have been considered. As
seen in Falstaff, a firm's financial capabilities and the conditions of con-
centration in the market are considered before a pronouncement is made
that a prima facie case for the application of the potential competition
doctrine has been demonstrated. The Court in Falstaff prevented the
merger there due to the ability of the firm to overcome the economic
barriers to entry. In Marine Bancorporation the Government had already
shown a prima facie case of concentration in the relevant geographic mar-
ket. This would have been sufficient under Falstaff to prevent the merger,
but here the Court refused to do so because of the legal barriers involved.

45. Id. at 639.
46. Id. at 642.
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The addition of the legal barriers element in Marine Bancorporation has
placed upon the Government another proof requirement once it has estab-
lished a prima facie case of concentration, and to some extent has shifted
the burden of proof from the defendant enterprise to the Government.

The Court found in this case that the state regulations47 were such bar-
riers as to prevent the National Bank of Commerce from entering the
market even after the Government had established a prima facie case that
the Spokane market was a candidate for the potential competition doc-
trine. While the regulations of the state of Washington are restrictive, they
do not prevent an entry into the market by legal means.' The regulations

47. WASH. REV. CODE §30.04.230 (Rev. 1957) provides:
A corporation or association organized under the laws of this state, or licensed to
transact business in the state, shall not hereafter acquire any shares of stock of any
bank, trust company or national banking association which, in the aggregate,
enables it to own, hold or control more than twenty-five percent of the capital stock
of such bank, trust company or national banking association: Provided, however,
That the foregoing restriction shall not apply as to any legal commitments existing
on February 27, 1933.

WASH. REV. CODE. §30.08.020(7) (Rev. 1959) provides:
That for a stated number of years, which shall be not less than ten nor more than
twenty years from the date of approval of the articles (a) no voting share of the
corporation shall, without the prior written approval of the supervisor, be affirma-
tively voted for any proposal which would have the effect of sale, conversion,
merger, or consolidation to or with, any other banking entity or affiliated financial
interest, whether through transfer of stock ownership, sale of assets, or otherwise,
(b) the corporation shall take no action to consummate any sale, conversion,
merger, or consolidation in violation of this subdivision, (c) this provision of the
articles shall not be revoked, altered, or amended by the shareholders without the
prior written approval of the supervisor, and (d) all stock issued by the corporation
shall be subject to this subdivision and a copy hereof shall be placed upon all
certificates of stock issued by the corporation.

WASH. REv. CODE. §30.40.020 (Rev. 1955) provides:
A bank or trust company having a paid-in capital of not less than five hundred
thousand dollars may, with the approval of the supervisor, establish and operate
branches in any city or town within the state. A bank or trust company having a
paid-in capital of not less than two hundred thousand dollars may, with the ap-
proval of the supervisor, establish and operate branches within the limits of the
county in which its principle place of business is located. The aggregate paid-in
capital stock of every bank or trust company operating branches shall at no time
be less than the aggregate of the minimum capital required by law for the establish-
ment of an equal number of banks or trust companies in the cities or towns wherein
the principal office or place of business of such bank or trust company and its
branches are located. No bank or trust company shall establish or operate any
branch in any city or town outside the city or town in which its principal place of
business is located in which any bank, trust company or national banking associa-
tion regularly transacts a banking or trust business, except by taking over or acquir-
ing an existing bank, trust company or national banking association or the branch
of any bank, trust company or national banking association operating in such city
or town.

48. 418 U.S. at 646-47.
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would prevent a de novo entry into the market, thus leaving two other
means available for market entry: sponsorship and merger with a smaller
bank. These may not be as attractive as an entry by merger with the third
largest bank in the market, but they are certainly viable means of entry
and this is all that is required for the doctrine to apply. The use of an
alternative means of entry would have the procompetitive effect of leaving
the third largest bank in existence, and if sponsorship were chosen, it
would have the effect of creating a new competitor in the market. While
in a potential competition case the barriers to entry, both legal and eco-
nomic, must be taken into consideration, this should be done in the light
of how willing the firm is to enter the market and not by imposing upon
the Government the task of proving the barriers to entry are not such as
to thwart the entry. Heretofore the Government had only to show a poten-
tial for a substantial lessening of competition, but now it must show more:
that the defendant could easily enter the market. This requirement goes
against the established precedents of Falstaff and Pabst.

Barriers to market entry have always been' considered in the past in cases
of this nature, but the Court has also given deference to the congressional
mandate that mergers which would cause a decrease of the available
sources of supply and an increase in the concentration of the market are
to be arrested from the outset. 9 While it can be contended that the merger
in this instance would not have such an effect, that position has a quality
of naivete. There is a trend in the state of Washington toward the acquisi-
tion of small banks by multibank holding companies. The trend toward
centralized banking is the very condition that the state's regulations are
aimed at preventing, and it is the very mischief that Congress has deter-
mined should be stopped in its inception through section 7 of the Clayton
Act. While the Court refused to consider the state as a relevant geographic
market and only considered the Spokane market area, this does not justify
the failure to recognize the concentrated pattern of bank holding compa-
nies in the Spokane area and that factor's interrelation with the banking
market in the state as a whole. Before this decision the concentration of
banking in the area would appear to have been enough to show a prima
facie case of a concentrated market; under the holding in Philadelphia
National Bank a showing of a business controlling an undue percentage of
the relevant market or causing an increase in the concentration of the
relevant market would mean that its activities are "so inherently likely to
lessen competition substantially that it must be enjoined in the absence
of evidence clearly showing that [its activities are not] likely to have such
effect."5 0

Even though the Court in Marine Bancorporation found a prima facie
case of market concentration, it read as strictly as possible the cases which

49. 374 U.S. at 363.
50. Id.
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had dealt with this problem in the past, and in applying the holdings of
those cases to the situation here, placed a burden on the Government
which had not heretofore existed. That the decision of the Court followed
the strict letter of case and statutory law in arriving as this result is
unquestionable, but the policy behind the established law in this area
appears to have been cast aside.

HARRY W. KRUMENAUER




